
 

 
 

Jackie Yates 
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
Civic Offices, Bridge Street, 
Reading RG1 2LU 
 0118 937 3787 
 

 

 
CIVIC OFFICES EMERGENCY EVACUATION: If an alarm sounds, leave by the nearest fire exit quickly and calmly 
and assemble on the corner of Bridge Street and Fobney Street.  You will be advised when it is safe to re-enter 
the building. 

www.reading.gov.uk | facebook.com/ReadingCouncil | twitter.com/ReadingCouncil 
  DX 40124 Reading (Castle Street) 

To: Councillor Mpofu-Coles (Chair) 
Councillors Gavin, Ballsdon, Cresswell, 
Davies, C Dennis, Ennis, Hoskin, Keane, 
Khan, Kitchingham, McEwan, O'Connell, 
Robinson and Sultan 

 Direct:  0118 937 2332 
e-mail: 0118 9372432 
 
14 March 2023 

 
Your contact is: Jemma Durkan - Committee Services 
 
NOTICE OF MEETING - ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 22 MARCH 2023 
 
A meeting of the Adult Social Care, Children's Services and Education Committee will be held 
on Wednesday, 22 March 2023 at 6.30 pm in the Council Chambers, Civic Offices, Reading. The 
Agenda for the meeting is set out below. 
 
 
  WARDS 

AFFECTED 
Page No 

  
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

  

 Councillors to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests 
they may have in relation to the items for consideration. 
 

  

 
2. MINUTES 
 

 5 - 14 
 
3. PETITIONS 
 

  

 Petitions submitted pursuant to Standing Order 36 in relation 
to matters falling within the Committee’s Powers & Duties 
which have been received by Head of Legal & Democratic 
Services no later than four clear working days before the 
meeting. 
 

  

 
4. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND 

COUNCILLORS 
 

  



 Questions submitted pursuant to Standing Order 36 in 
relation to matters falling within the Committee’s Powers & 
Duties which have been submitted in writing and received by 
the Head of Legal & Democratic Services no later than four 
clear working days before the meeting. 
 

  

 
5. DECISION BOOK REFERENCES 
 

  

 To consider any requests received by the Monitoring Officer 
pursuant to Standing Order 42, for consideration of matters 
falling within the Committee’s Powers & Duties which have 
been the subject of Decision Book reports. 
 

  

 
6. RBH BUILDING BERKSHIRE TOGETHER - UPDATE 
 

BOROUGH
WIDE 

 

 The Committee will receive an update from Alison Foster, 
Programme Director, Building Berkshire Together on the 
redevelopment of the Royal Berkshire Hospital. 
 

  

 
7. HEALTHWATCH READING 
 

BOROUGH
WIDE 

 

 The Committee will received an update from Healthwatch 
Reading. 
 

  

 
8. CHILDCARE SUFFICIENCY ASSESSMENT 
 

ALL 
WARDS 

15 - 46 

 A report providing information on the 2022/23 Childcare 
Sufficiency Assessment (CSA). 
 

  

 



 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
Please note that this meeting may be filmed for live and/or subsequent broadcast via the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed. You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act. 
Data collected during a webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy. 
 
Members of the public seated in the public gallery will not ordinarily be filmed by the automated 
camera system. However, please be aware that by moving forward of the pillar, or in the unlikely 
event of a technical malfunction or other unforeseen circumstances, your image may be captured.  
Therefore, by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 
Members of the public who participate in the meeting will be able to speak at an on-camera or off-
camera microphone, according to their preference. 

Please speak to a member of staff if you have any queries or concerns. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES - 18 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Present: Councillors Gavin (Vice-Chair in the Chair), Ballsdon, Cresswell, 

Davies, C Dennis, Ennis, Hoskin, Keane, Khan, Kitchingham, 
McEwan, O'Connell and Robinson 
 

Apologies: Councillors Mpofu-Coles and Sultan 
 

19. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
At the invitation of the Chair, members of the Committee spoke to give their condolences 
and to pay tribute to Ruth Perry who had been the Headteacher of Caversham Primary 
School and who had sadly passed away. 
 
20. MINUTES  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 2022 were confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair. 
 
21. MINUTES OF OTHER BODIES  
 
The minutes of the following meetings were received: 
  

       Health and Wellbeing Board – 7 October 2022 
  
22. NHS UPDATE - URGENT AND EMERGENCY CARE - BUCKINGHAMSHIRE, 

OXFORDSHIRE AND BERKSHIRE WEST INTEGRATED CARE BOARD (BOB)  
 
Sarah Webster, Executive Director for Berkshire West Place, BOB ICB, gave a presentation 
and update on local NHS urgent and emergency care pathways over the winter period. It 
was noted that it had been widely reported in the national press and media that the NHS 
had experienced its busiest winter on record and it was acknowledge that these pressures 
had also been felt locally. The presentation covered the following urgent and emergency 
care pathways:  
  
Primary Care 
  
In relation to primary care, it was noted that activity had remained at similar levels to 
the previous year up until November 2022. However, During December and early January, 
demand for appointments had increased, in particular for children due to the concerns 
around Strep A. There had also been an increase in appointments due to high levels of 
respiratory illnesses after the Christmas period.  The ICB had been able to provide 
additional funding, through until the end of February, for primary care practices to 
increase workforce capacity, provide additional appointments and commission clinics to 
focus on respiratory illness. Work had also been continuing to improve access to primary 
care by upgrading telephony systems, improving digital accessibility and literacy, 
communication around the appropriate use of services and increasing referrals to 
community pharmacies for minor illness. It was further noted that NHS 111 had seen a 
significant increase in the volume of phone calls. This had resulted in more patients being 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES - 18 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 

 
 
 

transferred into primary care which contributed towards increased activity. Work had 
been taking place to implement an enhanced Clinical Assessment Service which was due 
to go-live to help manage demand on general practice.  
  
Urgent Care Centre 
  
The presentation provided an update on the Urgent Care Centre which had opened on 5 
December 2022. The centre, based at the Broad Street Mall, was open 8am until 8pm, 7 
days a week. The service provided was GP-led but staffed by a multi-disciplinary health 
team. The service aimed to reduce Emergency Department (ED) attendances and provide 
overflow capacity for primary care. The centre had capacity to see up to 100 patients per 
day, including 50 patients referred by either the ED the at the Royal Berkshire Hospital 
(RBH) or by GP practices experiencing high on-the-day demand and a further 50 self-
presenting walk-in patients. The service was running well but had not yet reached full 
capacity, this was partially due to the timings of appointments and due to the fact that 
the new service was still bedding in. Underutilisation of capacity was being closely 
monitored and work was taking place to ensure that capacity was fully utilised. 
  
Ambulance Response and Conveyance  
  
The presentation noted that there had been a lot of pressure and publicity nationally on 
ambulance availability and response times. Locally, over the Christmas period, 
ambulances had experienced increases in the number of handover delays whereby 
ambulances had needed to wait for periods of over 30 minutes or 60 minutes. The delays 
were due to capacity within the RBH ED and also reduced in-hospital flow. The delays had 
held up emergency pathways and meant that ambulances were unable to be released to 
attend other calls. To reduce handover delays, the RBH had created a flexible off-loading 
bay to minimise the amount of time ambulances were required to wait within the ED. 
Implementation had proved effective and, as of this week, handover delays had been 
reduced significantly. Work was continuing to maintain this reduction.   
  
Emergency Department Attendances 
  
Attendances at the Emergency Department at the RBH had increased over the winter 
when compared to the previous few winters. However, the percentage of patients then 
admitted to hospital had reduced.  This was partially due to an increase in the number of 
patients presenting with minor illness and injuries but was also due to the introduction of 
new pathways that had been implemented across Berkshire West to improve same-day 
emergency care which allowed patients to be treated rapidly, on the same day, without 
the need for them to be admitted into hospital. Work was continuing with key partners to 
implement more services designed to reduce the number of hospital admissions. 
  
Discharge and onward care 
  
There had been an increase in the length of time that patients needed to wait in hospital 
to be discharged once they were ready to leave. This was due to the increased 
complexity of patient care needs and the availability of appropriate care packages within 

Page 6



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES - 18 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 

 
 
 

the community. There had been a significant focus on improving the pathways out of 
hospital to speed-up discharges, including many good examples of partnership working 
with adult social care. Additional funding of around £1.3 million had also been secured 
from a national fund of £500 million for the Reading Better Care Fund to invest in 
services to help patients leave hospital as quickly as possible. Such services included 
providing care in residents’ own homes, step down care in care homes, and provision of 
complex care packages for those with very high care needs. 
  
At the meeting it was noted that forward planning had started for the winter of 2023/24 
and that an update on preparations, produced jointly by the BOB ICB and RBC Adult 
Services, could be provided at a future meeting of the Committee  
  
Resolved –     
  

(1)          That the presentation be noted; 
  

(2)          That a copy of the presentation slides be published with the Minutes; 
  

(3)          That an update, be brought to a future meeting of the Committee 
outlining the plans for the 2023/24 winter period. 

 
23. SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY  
 
The Interim Executive Director of Children’s Services, Education, Early Help and Social 
Care, Brighter Futures for Children, submitted a report that invited the Committee to 
agree the determination of school admission arrangements for September 2024 as 
follows: 

  
       The admissions arrangements for Community Primary Schools in Reading for the 

2024/25 school year. 
       The coordinated scheme for primary and junior schools for the 2024/25 school 

year.  
       The coordinated scheme for secondary schools for the 2024/25 school year. 
       The Relevant Area 2024. 
       Maps of the Primary catchment areas. 

  
Copies of the schemes, policies, relevant area and maps were appended to the report at 
Annexes A, B, C, D and E. 
  
It was noted that the schemes had been amended to reflect the appropriate dates for the 
2024/25 school year but that no significant changes had been made, other than to clarify 
the existing policy relating to disputes between parents. The report also noted that the 
arrangements for 2024/25 complied with the School Admissions Code 2021. 
  
The Committee discussed the report. During discussions it was noted that an incorrect 
version of one of the maps (attached at Annex C) had been published with the agenda 
papers and the Interim Executive Director of Children’s Services, Education, Early Help 

Page 7



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES - 18 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 

 
 
 

and Social Care advised the Committee that a corrected version of the maps would be 
circulated for assurance. Also, typos and sections of the text would be amended within 
Annex B prior to the schemes being published.   
  
Resolved –     
  

(1)          That, subject to the Interim Executive Director of Children’s Services, 
Education, Early Help and Social Care making corrections to Annexes B 
and C, the scheme attached at Annexes A, B and C as the admissions 
arrangements for 2024/25 for community schools in Reading and the 
local arrangements for complying with the national coordinated primary 
school admission procedures for the allocation of primary school places 
for residents of Reading Borough be agreed.  
  

(2)          That the scheme attached at Annex D as the local arrangements for 
complying with the national coordinated secondary admissions procedure 
for the allocation of secondary school places for 2024/25 for residents of 
Reading Borough be agreed; 
  

(3)          That the relevant area attached to the report in Annex E which set out 
the organisations that must be consulted for any admissions 
arrangements for schools in Reading be agreed. 

  
 
24. AUTISM STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN  
 
The Interim Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health submitted a report that 
introduced Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022–2026 and Action Plan for Year 1 
2022/23. The following documents were appended to the report: 

  
Appendix 1 – Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022–2026; 
Appendix 2 – Reading’s All-Age Autism Action Plan Year 1 2022/23; 
Appendix 3 – Equality Impact Assessment. 
  

The report explained that public and partner engagement had been a core element in 
developing the Strategy and had involved autistic people, their families and carers, third 
sector and voluntary organisations and professionals from across Reading. Engagement 
and coproduction had taken place via interviews, workshops, surveys, forums, existing 
local groups, targeted outreach to groups and feedback sessions. The insight gathered 
had been used to inform and shape the strategy, and to test emerging findings, 
recommendations, priorities, and vision development. Overall, the Council had received 
views and contributions from 257 people. Contributions from 227 people had been 
received during the initial development of the Strategy with a further 30 people providing 
feedback following the public consultation. The findings following the public consultation 
had been outlined in section 7 of the report.   

Page 8



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES - 18 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 

 
 
 

As a result of the engagement and feedback, 7 priorities had been developed which were 
used as the basis for the strategy. These were: 

1.             Improving awareness, understanding and acceptance of autism; 
2.             Improving support and access to early years, education and supporting 

positive transitions and preparing for adulthood; 
3.             Increasing employment, vocation and training opportunities autistic people; 
4.             Better lives for autistic people – tackling health and care inequalities and 

building the right support in the community and supporting people in 
inpatient care; 

5.             Housing and supporting independent living; 
6.             Keeping safe and the criminal justice system; 
7.             Supporting families and carers of autistic people. 

The report explained that the Strategy and Action Plan would be delivered through the 
Autism Partnership Board (APB), which would report to the Health & Wellbeing Board to 
ensure that the Strategy remained a priority and was owned by all partner agencies. Each 
of the seven priority areas would have a responsible partner agency to lead on that 
particular element of the Action Plan to make sure that actions were achievable and 
made a difference to Reading’s autistic residents. The Autism Partnership Board would be 
expected to submit an annual report to the Health and Wellbeing Board each Summer on 
the progress made towards implementation of the Strategy and its Action Plan, including 
successes and any issues encountered during the year.  

At the meeting it was noted that a reference group consisting of autistic residents, 
voluntary sector organisations and relevent partner agencies would be developed to feed 
into and inform the Autism Partnership Board to advise the Board on relevant aspects of 
service delivery and to ensure continued engagement with Reading’s autistic community.  

At the meeting the Chair suggested that an annual update report should also be 
submitted to the Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and Education Committee to allow 
the Committee to maintain oversight of the implementation of the Strategy and Action 
Plan. 

Resolved –     

(1)      That the findings of the public consultation on Reading’s All Age Autism 
Strategy 2022-2026 be noted; 

(2)      That Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022-2026 and Action Plan Year 1 
2022/23 be agreed; 

(3)      That delivery and oversight of the Strategy and Action Plan be delegated 
to the Autism Partnership Board; 

(4)      That the Autism Partnership Board submit an Annual Report to the 
Health & Wellbeing Board each Summer updating on the implementation 
of the Strategy and Action Plan; 

Page 9



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES - 18 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 

 
 
 

(5)      That an annual report be submitted to the Adult Social Care, Children’s 
Services and Education Committee updating on the implementation of 
the Strategy and on the progress made towards achieving the objectives 
and actions detailed in the Action Plan.  

  
 
25. STRIVING FOR EXCELLENCE - PREPARATION FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

ASSURANCE  
 
Jo Lappin, Assistant Director for Safeguarding, Quality, Performance & Practice, gave a 
presentation providing information on the Striving for Excellence project and the 
preparations made for assurance of the Council’s Adult Social Care functions by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC). 
  
The presentation explained that the Health and Care Act 2022 gave the CQC new 
regulatory powers to undertake independent assessments of local authorities’ delivery of 
regulated care functions as set out in Part 1 of the Care Act 2014. 
  
The CQC assurance process would look for evidence that local authorities were meeting 
their Care Act 2014 responsibilities, including looking for evidence that risks had been 
identified and were being managed and that improvement plans were being delivered and 
were effective. The CQC would use a range of methods to gather evidence and conduct 
the assurance process. It was expected that assessments, which would begin from April 
2023, would move away from physical inspections being the only method for making 
judgements and would also rely on the analysis of various data sources that measured 
quality, risk and performance utilising indicators such as ombudsman judgements, 
statutory returns and benchmarking which would be done virtually. It was anticipated 
that the CQC would publish its ratings for individual Councils after a national baseline had 
been established. 
  
In September 2022 the CQC had published a Draft Local Authority Assessment Framework 
which outlined the CQC’s approach and explained that local authorities would be 
assessed against four key themes, each with several quality statements mapped to them. 
The four key themes were: 
  

1.             How Local Authorities work with people - assessing needs (including for 
carers), supporting people to live healthier lives, prevention, wellbeing, 
information, and advice;  

2.             How Local Authorities provide support - market shaping, commissioning 
workforce equality, integration and partnership working;  

3.             How Local Authorities ensure safety within the system - safeguarding, safe 
system and continuity of care; 

4.             Leadership – wider culture, strategic planning, learning, improvement, 
innovation, governance, management and sustainability.   

  
The presentation noted that, in December 2022, the Local Government Association (LGA) 
and the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) had published ‘Getting 

Page 10



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES - 18 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Ready for Assurance: A Guide to Support the Development of Your Adult Social Care Self-
Assessment’, which had been designed to enable local authorities to complete an 
objective, honest and authentic self-assessment process. It had been agreed that the 
Council would utilise this approach to prepare for CQC assurance. The Council’s 
preparations and the resulting improvement journey had been given the project name 
‘Striving for Excellence’. Striving for Excellence aimed not only to prepare the Council for 
CQC assessment but to also drive improvement more generally across Council services. 
  
Work had commenced to complete the self-assessment process which would help to 
determine strengths and to identify risks to delivery. This would inform an improvement 
plan which would need to be robustly monitored and managed to ensure its effectiveness. 
This process would provide the assurance that CQC would be seeking via their 
assessment. 
  
To provide an accurate picture, the self-assessment team would need to be informed by 
the experiences of service users, carers, professionals working in adult social care and 
other partners. All assertions would need to be evidenced with appropriate 
documentation with the greatest weight given to experience and outcomes. To ensure 
ownership and transparency the self-assessment would need to include evidence of 
formal endorsement from those with the responsibility for delivering local priorities and 
plans and key contributors, including the Council Leader; Chief Executive; Lead Member 
for Adult Social Care; Director of Social Care and Health; Director of Public Health; 
Safeguarding Adults Board chair; senior health colleague; Care Provider(s); a VCS 
representative; service user and carer representatives. 
  
The presentation noted some of the learning that had arisen following the CQC testing its 
proposed assessment methodology at two test and learn sites during the summer of 2022 
and summarised some of the findings of The Kings Fund research that had also been 
carried out during the summer. 
  
The presentation listed some of the project’s achievements. These included: 
  

       A Project Manager resource being identified and allocated; 
       The securing of Delivery Fund resources; 
       The completion of an initial self-assessment to establish baselines and agree 

priorities - the self-assessment was being updated to bring it in line with the 
guidance published by the LGA and ADAS in December 2022 (see above); 

       Procurement of a repository system called Tri-X to provide a centralised place to 
store policies and procedures; 

       Drafting of a strategy for consulting with service users; 
       Attendance at Peer Comparator Group sessions with Medway and Portsmouth 

councils; 
       Formation of a Steering Group, governance process/delivery channels.  

  
The presentation concluded by suggesting that an update could be brought back to the 
Committee in May 2023 to provide further information on the outcome of the self-
assessment and subsequent improvement journey. 

Page 11



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES - 18 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 

 
 
 

  
Resolved –  
  

(1)          That the presentation be noted; 
                                            
(2)          That an update be brought to the next ACE Committee meeting providing 

information on the outcome of the outcome of the self-assessment and 
subsequent improvement journey. 

 
26. BERKS WEST SAB (SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD) ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22  
 
The Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health submitted a report introducing the 
West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Annual Report for 2021/22. A copy of 
the Annual Report was attached at Appendix 1. The Annual Report included: 
  

       An introduction to the work of the West of Berkshire SAB - including its structure, 
vision, purpose and membership; 

       Details of the number of adult safeguarding concerns recorded within the West of 
Berkshire area in 2021-22; 

       A summary of the safeguarding trends identified across the area in 2021/22; 
       A summary of the risks identified and mitigated against during 2021/22; 
       Details of the achievements made against the key priorities set for 2021/22; 
       Case summaries for the six Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) conducted by the 

Board during 2021/22; and 
       Details of the key priorities set by the SAB for 2022/23, including the 2022/23 

Business Plan. 
  
The report noted that the Council was one of the local authorities that had contributed 
to the Annual Report, along with West Berkshire and Wokingham.  A link to Reading’s 
contribution, which had been reviewed by the Committee at the meeting on 19 October 
2022 (Minute 13 refers), was provided within the report.    
  
The report went on to highlight the priorities set by the West of Berkshire SAB for 
2022/23. The four priorities were: 
  

       Priority 1: To expand on learning regarding self-neglect: to offer the partnership 
resources to support them to achieve effective outcomes for individuals that self-
neglect; 

       Priority 2: To seek assurance that the quality of health and social care services 
delivered in the West of Berkshire or those commissioned out of area for West of 
Berkshire residents is monitored effectively and there is a proportionate response 
to concerns;   

       Priority 3: The SAB to review it’s Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) process, in 
order to ensure that it is timely and good value for money;   

       Priority 4: The SAB will continue to carry out business as usual tasks in order to 
comply with statutory duties.  

Page 12



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES - 18 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 

 
 
 

  
The report detailed how Reading Borough Council would respond to and support the 
delivery of the SAB’s priorities and listed the priorities that the Council would use 
internally to achieve this. Delivery of the Council’s own priorities would be monitored via 
a Delivery Plan overseen by the Safeguarding Development Group. 
  
The Chair concluded the meeting by expressing gratitude and thanks, on behalf of the 
Committee and Council, for the hard work of the Assistant Director for Safeguarding, 
Quality, Performance & Practice who would shortly be leaving the organisation. 
  
Resolved –  
  

(1)          That the Berkshire West Safeguarding Board Annual Report for 2021/22 
be noted; 
                            

(2)          That Reading Borough Council’s contribution to the Berkshire West 
Safeguarding Board Annual Report 2021/22, as reviewed by the 
Committee on 19 October 2022, be noted. 

 
 
(The meeting closed at 8.01 pm) 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY Graham Genoni  

 
TO: Adult Social Care, Children’s Service and Education Committee 
DATE:    
TITLE: Childcare Sufficiency Assessment  
LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

Councillor Graeme 
Hoskin 

PORTFOLIO: Children’s Services 

SERVICE:  Brighter Futures for 
Children : Early Help  
 

WARDS: All Wards 

LEAD OFFICER: Corinne Dishington  TEL:  
JOB TITLE: Service Manager 0-5s  E-MAIL: Corinne.dishington@ 

brighterfurturesforchildren.
org 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Childcare Act 2006 places a legal duty on all local authorities to ensure that there 

is sufficient childcare in their area. The purpose of this report is to share the 2022/23 
Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA) for information and comment. 
 

1.2 Under Section 6 of the Act there is a requirement on local authorities to produce an 
annual sufficiency assessment on the availability and sufficiency of childcare in their 
area. The responsibility to complete the assessment is delegated by the local 
authority to Brighter Futures for Children. 

 
1.3 Section 12 places a duty on local authorities to provide information, advice and 

assistance to parents and prospective parents relating to the provision of childcare 
and services or facilities that may be of benefit to parents and prospective parents, 
children and young people. It is advised this Childcare Sufficiency Assessment is 
viewed alongside the information available on the Reading Family Information 
Service. 

 
1.4 This assessment provides a summary of childcare provision in Reading with the aim to 

support: 
• Parents to gain an understanding of the types of childcare on offer in Reading 

and help to inform decisions about childcare options for their family 
• Childcare providers to understand the local childcare market and to help them 

make informed choices to better meet the childcare needs of families in 
Reading 

• Brighter Futures for Children by providing a structured picture of the current 
childcare offer in Reading that informs potential actions for market 
management to meet demand and the forward strategic planning for primary 
school places. 

 
1.5 The CSA provides a snapshot of the position of the childcare market. The CSA provides 

an indication of trends or areas for further investigation and action, and the tools 
used in the production of the assessment enable ongoing analysis and monitoring of 
the childcare data for future planning. 

 

 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 To note and endorse the 2022/23 Assessment  
 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1      While complying with the duties above local authorities must have regard to statutory 

guidance provided by the Department for Education. This ensures that early years 
funding is offered consistently and fairly. The latest guidance on early years funding 
can be found at the following www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-
education-and-childcare--2 

 
4. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
4.1 This proposal will contribute to the key theme set out in the Council’s  

 Corporate Plan 2022-25, to focus on the needs of the most vulnerable, ensuring 
young people, older people, those with long term health conditions or disabilities 
are supported to live their best lives. 

 
 
5. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
5.1 Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, a public authority must, in the exercise of 

its functions, have due regard to the need to— 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

• foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
5.2 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not relevant to the decision.  
 
5.3 In this regard you must consider whether the decision will or could have a differential 

impact on: racial groups; gender; people with disabilities; people of a particular 
sexual orientation; people due to their age; people due to their religious belief. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-education-and-childcare--2
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-education-and-childcare--2
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-education-and-childcare--2


 
 

 

 
 
  

Early Years Childcare 

Sufficiency Assessment  

The assessment is a statutory 

duty of the Childcare Act 2006  

 

OWNER 

Corinne Dishington 

 

VERSION 

D.2 

 

DATE 

February 2023 

 

 

 

© Brighter Futures for Children 

 

Brighter Futures for Children  

Civic Offices, Bridge Street,  

Reading RG1 2LU 

 

Company number 11293709 

 

Reading Childcare 

Sufficiency 

Assessment   

2022-2023 

Page 17



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 2 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Contents 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 4 

Purpose of the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA) ......................................................................... 5 

Reading demographic information ............................................................................................ 7 

Estimated ONS child population in Reading 2019 and 2020, 2021 ........................................... 7 

Childcare Providers in Reading ............................................................................................................... 8 

Map of Early Years Childcare providers in Reading (not including Childminders) ................................. 9 

Childcare places available in Reading ................................................................................................... 10 

Early Years Childcare Providers Opening Times ....................................................................... 12 

Early Years Childcare Costs ................................................................................................................... 12 

Childcare Quality ...................................................................................................................... 13 

Ofsted Ratings of Childcare Providers in Reading .................................................................... 13 

Early Years Funding ............................................................................................................................... 14 

Three and four-year-old funded early education entitlement ................................................ 14 

15 hours funded childcare ....................................................................................................... 14 

30 hours funded childcare ....................................................................................................... 14 

Two-Year-Old Funding – Spring 22 ........................................................................................... 15 

Universal Funding (three and four-year-old) – Spring 2022 .................................................... 15 

30 Hours Extended Entitlement Funding – Spring 2022 .......................................................... 16 

Early Years Pupil Premium ....................................................................................................... 16 

Disability Access Fund .............................................................................................................. 16 

Childcare for School Aged Children ...................................................................................................... 17 

Holiday Activities and Food programme (HAF) ........................................................................ 18 

Action plan progress 2021-2022 ........................................................................................................... 20 

Action plan 2023 ................................................................................................................................... 21 

Appendix 1 ............................................................................................................................................ 22 

Provider Survey ..................................................................................................................................... 22 

Early Years Childcare ............................................................................................................................. 22 

Government Funded Schemes ................................................................................................. 22 

Vacancies .................................................................................................................................. 23 

Waiting List ............................................................................................................................... 23 

Business .................................................................................................................................... 23 

Sustainability ............................................................................................................................ 23 

Additional Comments .............................................................................................................. 24 

Out of School Provider .......................................................................................................................... 24 

Page 18



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 3 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Age Range................................................................................................................................. 25 

Government Funded Schemes ................................................................................................. 25 

Vacancies and demand ............................................................................................................ 25 

Business .................................................................................................................................... 25 

Sustainability ............................................................................................................................ 26 

Additional Comments .............................................................................................................. 26 

Appendix 2 ............................................................................................................................................ 26 

Parent Survey ........................................................................................................................... 26 

Access to childcare ................................................................................................................... 26 

Early Years Funded Childcare ................................................................................................... 27 

Extended 30 Hours Funding ..................................................................................................... 27 

Childcare costs ......................................................................................................................... 28 

Impact of limited childcare during the COVID 19 pandemic.................................................... 28 

Appendix 3 ............................................................................................................................................ 28 

Housing data ............................................................................................................................ 28 

Appendix 4 ............................................................................................................................................ 29 

Eligibility Criteria for Funded Early Entitlement for two, three and four-year-old children .... 29 

Two-Year-Old national criteria ................................................................................................. 29 

30 hours extended entitlement ............................................................................................... 30 

 

  

Page 19



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 4 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Introduction 

The Childcare Act 2006 places a legal duty on all local authorities to ensure that there is sufficient 

childcare in their area. In particular, the local authority has a duty to: 

• Secure sufficient childcare, so far as is reasonably practicable, for working parents, or 

parents who are studying or training for employment, for children aged 0 – 14 (or up to 18 

for disabled children) 

• Secure early years provision free of charge for all three- and four-year-olds and eligible two-

year-olds (570 hours a year) 

• Secure 30 hours free childcare for working parents  

• Provide information, advice and assistance to parents and prospective parents on the 

provision of childcare in their area 

The duties in the Act (section 6) require local authorities to shape and support the development of 

childcare in their area in order to make it flexible, sustainable and responsive to the needs of the 

community. This role is described as the “market management” function, supporting the sector to 

meet the needs of parents, children and young people, parents and stakeholders. 

Under Section 6 of the Act there is a requirement on local authorities to produce an annual sufficiency 

report on the availability and sufficiency of childcare in their area. The responsibility to complete the 

annual sufficiency assessment is delegated by the local authority to Brighter Futures for Children. 

Section 7 requires local authorities to secure prescribed early years provision free of charge. This 

provision is for eligible children aged two, three and four-year-old. All three and four-year-olds are 

eligible for some funded early years provision. 

Nationally approximately 40% of two-year-olds are legally entitled to Funded Early Years provision, 

based on national criteria (see appendix 4). 

The Childcare Act (2016) extended the Childcare Act (2006) and the duty to provide universal 

entitlement for three and four-year-olds; since September 2017 eligible families have been entitled to 

30 hours funded childcare for three- and four-year-olds, extending the previous provision of up to 15 

hours a week (570 hours a year) universal early learning for this age range. 

Section 12 places a duty on local authorities to provide information, advice and assistance to parents 

and prospective parents relating to the provision of childcare and services or facilities that may be of 

benefit to parents and prospective parents, children and young people. It is advised this Childcare 

Sufficiency Assessment is viewed alongside the information available on the Reading Family 

Information Service (FIS). 

Reading is committed to ensuring that disabled children and those with special educational needs 

have access to a wide range of high quality childcare. In addition to the Early Years Foundation Stage 

(EYFS) statutory requirements and the Equality Act 2010, all publicly funded Early Years providers in 

the maintained, private, voluntary and independent sectors, are required to have regard to the SEND 

Code of Practice:-25. The Code of Practice states that Early Years settings should adopt a graduated 

approach to identifying and meeting the needs of all children and young people. At each stage of 

assessment and planning, settings should engage with parents and carers, making reasonable 

adjustments, wherever is practicable, to support the needs of the child. 

Page 20

https://servicesguide.reading.gov.uk/kb5/reading/directory/family.page?familychannel=0


 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 5 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

To support Early Years providers to meet the needs of children and young people Brighter Futures 

for Children provides: 

• Access to special Education Needs coordinator (SENCo) training opportunities 

• SEN inclusion funding to enable children to access Early Years provision 

• The Local Offer which provides information on services and provision available to families, 

young people and children with special education needs and/or disabilities 

 

Purpose of the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA) 

This assessment provides a summary of childcare provision in Reading with the aim to support: 

• Parents to gain an understanding of the types of childcare on offer in Reading and help to 

inform decisions about childcare options for their family 

• Childcare providers to understand the local childcare market and to help them make 

informed choices to better meet the childcare needs of families in Reading 

• Brighter Futures for Children staff by providing a structured picture of the current childcare 

offer in Reading that informs potential actions for market management to meet demand and 

the forward strategic planning for primary school places. 

While complying with the duties above local authorities must have regard to Early Years Education 

and Childcare, statutory guidance provided by the Department for Education. This ensures that early 

years funding is offered consistently and fairly.  

The publishing of the annual Childcare Sufficiency Assessment is part of the local authority’s legal duty 
in managing the childcare market to ensure there is sufficient childcare. It must be recognised that 
the statistics and data are fluid and constantly changing. This document only provides a snapshot of 
the position of the childcare market at any given time. This assessment provides a good indication of 
trends or areas for further investigation and action, and the tools used in the production of the 
assessment enable ongoing analysis and monitoring of the childcare data for future planning. 
 
The Childcare Sufficiency Assessment will be of interest to parents, providing them with an overview 

of the childcare which is offered across the town and in their locality. It will be useful to existing and 

potential childcare providers when considering a change to delivery model, expanding provision or 

starting up in new areas. The childcare market is particularly dynamic, with many factors affecting 

demand and supply, especially parental choice. The findings of this report are indicative only and 

further detailed analysis of local areas should be undertaken by childcare providers to fully understand 

the local market. This report is to be shared with the public, local authority officers, elected members 

and the childcare market. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21

https://servicesguide.reading.gov.uk/kb5/reading/directory/advice.page?id=rAbc_Vx7Fmg
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-education-and-childcare--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-education-and-childcare--2


 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 6 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Covid-19 

This assessment is for the year 2022-2023, some of the data included is from January and March 2021, 

therefore it still resonates some of the impact that Covid-19 restrictions had on the childcare sector. 

There has been a steady increase in children claiming funded childcare since Covid-19 restrictions 
were lifted.  
 
ONS Data collections from summer 2021 to summer term 2022 reveals the following increase in 
attending numbers: 
 

• 2-year-old funded children - 5.5%  

• 3 & 4-year-old Universal funded children - 40 individuals  

• 30 hours Extended Entitlement - 2%  
 

Main Findings 

• 96% of providers in Reading are judged as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ by Ofsted or waiting for a 

first inspection.  

• The annual parents survey 2022 showed, the majority (87%) of parents/carers surveyed 

were satisfied with their choice of childcare provision.  

• There are currently sufficient childcare places for all 0–4-year-olds who want places, 

including funded early education entitlement places for two-, three- and four-year-olds, 

albeit some may not be in the area preferred. 

• Providers report immediate vacancies and waiting lists for children aged 0 to 11 years in 

Reading an indicator that parents are waiting for preferred provision.  

• The majority (93%) of parents/carers surveyed were able to find the type of childcare they 

wanted in their local area. Where they had not this was either due to the cost or the 

provision not meeting their child's needs.  

• Early years providers report that places are most influenced by the physical space available, 

followed by qualified staff vacancies and meeting the needs of existing children. 

• Funding rates were identified as the greatest threat to the sustainability of early years 

providers followed by rising energy costs.  

• Rising food costs were identified as the greatest threat to the sustainability of out of school 

providers followed by a drop in parental demand.  

• RBC’s 5 year housing plan has identified the town centre and Whitley ward as areas to 

monitor regarding future growth. This could lead to an increase in the number of families 

over the next few years in line with housing development.  

• Parent/carers who reported that their childcare requirements had changed as an impact of 

the Covid pandemic were in the minority this year at 20%, a reduction from 31% last year.  

• 50% of parent/carer responses indicated that they were satisfied with current fees, the 

remaining 50% were not satisfied. In this financial year 57% of early years providers and 41% 

of out of school providers reported that they had set a fee increase.  

 

Page 22



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 7 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Reading demographic information  

Estimated ONS child population in Reading 2019 and 2020, 2021 

 

As of 2021, Reading is the fourth most densely populated of the South East's 64 local authority areas, 

with around 31 people living on each football pitch-sized area of land. We can expect this density to 

increase if we factor in the significant high-rise flat developments planned in the town highlighted in 

appendix 3. In the last 10 years Reading’s population has increased by 11.9%. This is significantly higher 

than the South East average of 7.5%.  

For the first time since 2015, the number of live births in England and Wales increased in 2021. It is 

important to monitor changes in cohort numbers to ensure that any increase in cohort is not impacted 

by providers decreasing their capacity as a reaction to the recent decline in birth rates reported in 

previous years.  Live births in Reading increased by 1.2% between 2011 to 2021, however, ONS data 

shows that 0-4 year old population has decreased by 14% over the same period.  The Office of National 

Statistics reports a long-term trend of decreasing live births. The largest increase in Reading’s 

population is in non-childbearing age group. 

Reading remains a vibrant town, hosting the headquarters of several multi-national companies. It also 

has good transport links across the South East and traditionally more favourable house prices than 

London. The development of housing in Reading (appendix 3) shows there are currently 6352 planning 

permissions currently outstanding. This number is an increase of 1272 planning permissions since the 

previous year. The easement of the pandemic restrictions on mobility could increase migration into 

Reading as a more economic place to live than its surrounding areas.  

Housing development could increase the challenges in maintaining sufficiency of childcare places in 

the future. Wards such as Abbey and Whitley are developing new housing at a much higher rate than 

other wards, especially in the form of flats. Traditionally families living in flats would migrate to the 

larger houses within the suburbs as their family grew. The current economic environment could see 

more families remaining in their properties and result in an increase in demand for childcare in areas 

where they did not previously exist. In part, this will be addressed by three new Early Years providers 

opening in 2023 that will increase sufficiency of places in areas of development.  Large scale 

Page 23



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 8 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

developments within Abbey ward (Huntley Wharf) have plans to incorporate designated space for 

childcare facilities, this could counter act the potential shortfall of day care places within the town 

centre but not necessarily offer the flexibility to accommodate funded only childcare. 

source ONS Mid 2020 (latest) 

Childcare Providers in Reading 

Reading maintains a consistent mix of childcare provision with delivery of places from all provider 

types including day nurseries, independent schools, pre-schools, primary schools, maintained nursery 

schools and childminders. As of January 2022, there were a total of 177 early years childcare providers 

in Reading. This was a decrease of 3 providers from the previous year. Most of the closed providers 

were non funded childminders. This could be attributed to the lack of demand for school wrap around 

care as a result of shifting parental working patterns following the pandemic and an increase in 

working from home. Respondents of the out of school survey reported a lack of parental demand and 

comments indicated that more parent/carers now have informal childcare arrangements in place.  

 

Type of Provision 
January 
2018 

January 
2019 

January 
2020 

January 
2021 

January 
2022 

5 yr 
movement 

Pre-School 20    20   ➔ 19  18  17  -3 

Full Day Care 30  32  34  32  32 ➔ +2 

Independent Nursery 6 ➔ 6 ➔ 6 ➔ 6 ➔ 6 ➔ 0 

Childminder (registered and 
claiming EY funding) 

33  32  34  32  34 
+1 

Childminder (Not claiming EY 
funding) 

78  87  77  65  61 
-17 

Maintained Nursery School 5 ➔ 5 ➔ 5 ➔ 5 ➔ 5 ➔ 
0 

Maintained Nursery Class 22 ➔ 22 ➔ 22 ➔ 22 ➔ 22 ➔ 0 

Total Providers 194  204  197  180 177 
-17 

Page 24



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 9 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Map of Early Years Childcare providers in Reading (not including 

Childminders) 

 

Page 25



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 10 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Childcare places available in Reading 
The number of Reading childcare providers has remained steady over the last 3 years. As some 
businesses have closed others have opened to rebalance the market. This year there has been a slight 
decrease of childminders numbers overall, however an increase of childminders offering early years 
funding. In 2023 three new daycare providers are due to open near to or in the town centre.   

The largest number of Ofsted registered places are in the Full Day Care sector. These places are to 
secure sufficient childcare for working parents to access. Provider responses indicate that parental 
demand is high with 80% of daycare providers holding a waiting list. Childminders offer places across 
the age ranges and make a significant contribution to the stock of available childcare in Reading. The 
number of pre-schools has decreased and there are early signs that the 2-year funded demand may 
be impacted in West Reading and is being closely monitored. 

The Family Information Service (FIS) is contracted to deliver childcare information on behalf of Brighter 
Futures for Children. The team manages and collates childcare data in order to provide free 
individually tailored information, advice and guidance directly to parents and carers. The Family 
Information Service advises and supports childcare providers to update their Local Offer. The Local 
Offer covers the services they provide in Reading.  

Childcare capacity, in particular for pre-school children, fluctuates throughout the year. Places come 
under increasing pressure in the summer term ahead of school intake to Reception in September. This 
results in a challenging environment to predict sufficiency on an annualised basis. 

Provision for children and young people aged 11-14 years old is more likely to be out of school (in the 
form of clubs, activities and groups) and delivered by schools, for their own pupils and for less than 
two hours. This provision is not required to be registered as childcare with Ofsted. The out of school 
provider survey highlighted than the percentage of providers offering provision to children 11 years 
and over is the lowest of all age groups at 30%.   
 

Number of Childcare Providers by Type & Ward – March 2022 

 

EY
 F

u
n

d
ed

 

C
h

ild
m

in
d

er
 

C
h

ild
m

in
d

er
 

D
ay

 N
u

rs
er

y 

EY
 F

u
n

d
ed

 

In
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
Sc

h
o

o
l 

P
re

 

Sc
h

o
o

l 

M
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 

N
u

rs
er

y 

Sc
h

o
o

l 

M
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 

N
u

rs
er

y 

C
la

ss
 

Total 

Abbey 1 2 4 1 1  2 11 
Battle 7 3 4 1 1  2 18 
Caversham  5 2 1 1 2 1 12 
Church 2 1   1 1 1 6 
Katesgrove   2    2 4 
Kentwood 2 2 2  1 1  8 
Mapledurham 1 4      5 
Minster 3 3 1  2  2 11 
Norcot 2 5   2  3 12 
Park 3 5 3  1  2 14 
Peppard 4 11 2  2   19 
Redlands   2 1 1  1 5 
Southcote 1 3 3  1  1 9 
Thames  9 2 1 2   14 
Tilehurst 5 5 2 1 1 1 2 17 
Whitley 3 3 3    3 12 

Total 34 61 32 6 17 5 22 177 

Page 26

https://servicesguide.reading.gov.uk/kb5/reading/directory/advice.page?id=rAbc_Vx7Fmg
https://servicesguide.reading.gov.uk/kb5/reading/directory/advice.page?id=rAbc_Vx7Fmg


 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 11 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Reading has a good balance of childcare by type in each ward. Peppard has a high total number of 

providers, including 15 childminders and total number of childcare places responsive to the demands 

of the Ward. Mapledurham has low childcare places reflective of the low child population. Abbey and 

Battle ward have the highest number of day care providers. Data shows that Abbey ward is one of our 

most populated wards with increasing residential development.   

The four Wards with the highest percentage of Reading’s under 5s population remain as Abbey, Battle, 

Whitley and Norcot. Analysis indicates that registered childcare places in Abbey ward currently 

matches population estimates, however, in Battle, Whitley and Norcot there could be pressure on 

places if childcare demand increases. Three new childcare provisions are being planned for 

development within or close to Abbey and Whitley wards which will provide a further 250 childcare 

places. These may help meet the demand within these areas where housing development is 

increasing. Particular focus needs to be given to Minster, Norcot and Whitley wards which all have 

high numbers of two-year-olds but few sessional childcare providers. It should be noted that Abbey 

and Battle wards both include registered places available at independent schools. 

Reading Borough Council’s Residential commitments report (appendix 3) states that the number of 

dwellings under construction is currently at the highest ever recorded. The highest number of current 

housing planning permissions continue to be in Abbey and Whitley wards. Increased child population 

within these two wards and the greater Reading area could put pressure on the current availability of 

childcare places. Analysis of attendance data for pre-pandemic showed that most children attended 

an early years provider in their home ward and it is anticipated this is likely to continue with working 

from home becoming increasingly mainstream in some sectors.  

Parental choice and flexibility play a large part in determining childcare sufficiency making local 

demand difficult to predict. The largest percentage of registered places in Reading is in the full day 

care sector which generally offers more flexibility to meet the demands of working parents. For the 

last two years 25% of providers have noted shifting parental demand as a concern, however this year 

the number of parent/carers reporting a change had decreased to 20%.  

The assessment concludes that although there are local variations in places offered by different 

providers, on the whole Reading has a balanced childcare market. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 12 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Early Years Childcare Providers Opening Times  

Of the 102 survey responses, most childcare providers open between 7am to 9am and close at 6pm. 

No providers reported as opening earlier than 7am or closing later then 6pm.  

 
56% of childcare providers are open all year round. Most of the term time only care is offered by pre-

schools and maintained nursery schools and classes. Only one childcare provider offers weekend care.  

 

Early Years Childcare Costs 

 

According to the Family and Childcare Trust childcare prices have increased since 2021 but at a lower 

rate than inflation. The average cost in the South East of England for a full week care for children under 

two years old is £289.06 a week. The average price for families using an after-school club for five days 

is £63.09 per week. Information gathered from Reading childcare providers indicates that their hourly 

charges are slightly higher than the national average. Charges can vary both between types of settings, 

between individual providers and the age of children care is offered to.  

Early years free entitlement hours, funded by the government, are currently paid at an hourly rate of 

£5.06 for 3- and 4-year-olds which is below the average childcare hourly rate charged across all 

providers. The early years funding rate was increased by 12p per hour in April 2022.  

0%

29%

56%

15%

Opening Times

6am-6:59am

7am-7:59am

8am-8:59am

9am-later

4%
7%

6%

29%

11%

44%

Closing Times

Before Noon

12noon-1:59pm

2pm-2:59pm

3pm-4:59

5pm-5:59pm

6pm

Average Costs of Childcare in Reading by Provider Costs (March 22 snapshot from Providers) 

 Per Hour Per Session Per Day Per Week Per Term 

Childminder £5.47 £26.13 £45.00 - - 

Day Nursery £7.45 £35.89 £58.47 £235.66 - 

Pre-School £6.19 £16.61 - - - 

Holiday Scheme £7.50 £31.57 £32.38 £185.33 - 

Page 28



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 13 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Childcare Vouchers and Tax-Free Childcare (TFC) are schemes designed to financially support working 

parents by providing tax savings or topping up contributions. The majority of childcare providers are 

now signed up to this scheme which can save parents up to £2000 a year per child on their childcare 

costs.  The survey highlights that 88% of early years providers and 87% of out of school providers are 

registered to accept Tax Free Childcare, however only 32% of the parent/carer respondents reported 

that they are using the scheme. This mirrors the national take-up of the entitlement. A national 

campaign is being conducted to increase take-up of this entitlement and this will be replicated locally 

over the next year. 

Results of the parent/carer survey showed that 50% of parent/carers were satisfied with their 

childcare costs, whereas 50% were not. This year there was an increase in the number of providers 

reporting to have raised their fees to parent/carers, however 43% of early years and 59% of out of 

school providers report no change.  

The number of providers reporting to have a business plan has declined this year with 54% of early 

years and 48% of out of school providers ( breakfast/after school clubs, holiday activities) stating that 

they do. This is an area which needs to be addressed in order to safeguard the future of Reading’s 

childcare market.  

 

Childcare Quality 

Childcare standards are regulated by the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and 

Skills (OFSTED). Ofsted registered providers are checked for safety and suitability for caring for 

children. All childcare settings, who care for children under eight years old, are legally required to be 

registered with Ofsted. 

 

Ofsted Ratings of Childcare Providers in Reading 

Ofsted started a phased return to regular inspection activity spring 2021 following the suspension 

during the Covid pandemic. All early years providers are now inspected in a 6-year window from the 

date of their last inspection. Ofsted aims to inspect all new childcare providers within 30 months of 

registration where possible. Childcare providers judged to require improvement are reinspected 

within a year and inadequate childcare provision is reinspected within 6 months.  

As of March 2022, the vast majority of Reading childcare providers were rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. 

The 7 providers rated Requires Improvement and Inadequate were being supported by the Early Years 

team to make the required progress.   

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 14 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 

 

Early Years Funding  

Three and four-year-old funded early education entitlement 

15 hours funded childcare 

All three and four-year-old children in England are eligible for 570 hours of funded childcare per year 

from the term after their third birthday. This is usually taken as 15 hours a week for 38 weeks of the 

year known as “universal entitlement”. Providers can also offer this entitlement as a stretched offer 

across the whole year. This entitlement continues until the child is statutory school age. 

30 hours funded childcare 

The Government offers working parents of three and four-year-olds up to 30 hours per week for 38 

weeks of the year (1,140 hours per year). This is known as the “extended entitlement”. National 

criteria for the extended entitlement can be found in the Appendix 4.  

The 40% most disadvantaged two-year-old children (as defined in appendix 4) are eligible to claim a 

free early years place of 15 hours a week for 38 weeks (term time only) or the equivalent of 570 hours 

if they stretch it over a year.  

11%

73%

3%
1% 11%

Overall Effectiveness of Reading Early Years 
Providers March 2022

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement

Inadequate Awaiting first inspection

Page 30



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 15 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Two-Year-Old Funding – Spring 22 

 
 

 
2 Year Olds Claiming Funding 

 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Number 
uptake 

396 410 371 311 377 

% of 
cohort 

58% 65% 63% 55% 73% 

 

The take-up percentage is calculated using estimated numbers supplied by the Government’s 

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP).  The DWP numbers relate only to children that reside in 

Reading, however, families can choose to attend a setting in any local authority area. The majority of 

funded two-year-old children attend a Provider offering full day care, this benefits parents returning 

to work as the child can remain in the same setting at three years old. The 73% take-up in spring 2022 

is a significantly higher than the previous spring term and signals a return in parental confidence in 

the childcare sector since the third National Covid 19 lockdown. The acceleration in take up of the 2 

year old offer can also be attributed to increased promotion of the scheme facilitated by the Early 

Years Service.  

 

Universal Funding (three and four-year-old) – Spring 2022 

 

 

There is an even balance of universal 15 hours funding being offered between the private and the 

maintained sector. Overall, the numbers attending in spring 2022 continues to be lower than the 

previous year. The lack of acceleration in universal take-up in spring 2022 could be indicative of the 

drop in 2-year-old funding take-up experienced in the previous year and also reflect the decreasing 

under 5s population. 

 

 

 

5%

48%
26%

21%

 Childminders

 DayCare

 Pre-School

 Maintained
Nursery

 3 & 4 Year Olds Claiming Universal Funding 

 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Number 
uptake 

3011 2888 3012 2525 2545 

% of total 
cohort 62% 60% 65% 55% 54% 

2%

36%

14%

4%

14%

30%

 Childminders

 DayCare

 Pre-School

 Independent

 Maintained Nursery

 Maintained Class

Page 31



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 16 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

30 Hours Extended Entitlement Funding – Spring 2022 

 

The number of families claiming 30 hours extended entitlement funding has continued the pattern of 

decline from the previous 3 years. This could be attributed to a shift in parental working patterns as a 

consequence of the pandemic. The percentage of children claiming 30 hours funding remains fairly 

consistent across the sector with no obvious shifts to different childcare types. Traditionally, daycare 

providers have offered the greatest flexibility in when funded hours can be offered, therefore they 

remain the largest group offering 30 hours funding.  

 

Early Years Pupil Premium 

Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP) is additional funding paid directly to early years settings to improve 

the education they provide for disadvantaged three and four-year-olds. Children from households on 

low incomes and receiving Universal Credit are entitled to EYPP. There were 452 three and four-year-

olds funded for EYPP in January 2022 in Reading, 18% of the total cohort. The introduction of 

additional information and marketing by the Early Years service has helped to increase take-up of EYPP 

by 5% over the last year. In March 2022, 77% of children in the PVI sector had a EYPP eligibility check 

run via the Education Checking System.   

 

Disability Access Fund 

The Equalities Act 2010 requires local authorities and settings not to discriminate, harass or victimise 

disabled children, which may include making reasonable adjustments to accommodate children’s’ 

needs. Local authorities must comply with the provisions of the Act in finding suitable provision for 

eligible disabled children. 

The Disability Access Fund (DAF) was introduced by the Government in April 2017 to support 3- and 

4-year-old children with disabilities to access their early years entitlement. In April 2022 the lump sum 

available for this was increased from £615 to £800. Claimants need to provide evidence of the child’s 

Disability Living Allowance certificate and be claiming universal early years entitlement. Payments are 

made directly to the setting accommodating the child. Since 2017 Reading has funded 148 children.  

 

 

4%

62%

9%

1%

13%

11%

 Childminders

 DayCare

 Pre-School

 Independent

 Maintained
Nursery
 Maintained
Class

 3 & 4 Year Olds Claiming 30 Hours 
Extended Entitlement Funding 

 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Number 
uptake 

 
900 

977 983 926 902 

% of total 
cohort 

 
30% 34% 34% 32% 31% 

Page 32



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 17 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Childcare for School Aged Children 

Data Source – ONS Mid-year 2020 (latest available) 

There are an estimated 1,561 Ofsted registered places for school-aged children (aged 5 years old and 

over) being offered in out of school and holiday provision as of March 2022. The number of providers 

offering care has remained consistent with data compared to the previous year. Childminders play an 

important role for older children although their registered places have not been included in the 

provision table. Places are estimated based on Ofsted registration data. The number of Ofsted 

registered places incorporates provision for different age groups, it is at the discretion of the childcare 

provider how they allocate their places. Out of school provision may also be available after school (in 

the form of clubs, activities and groups) that are run by the school, for pupils attending the school, 

and for less than 2 hours.  It is not required to be registered as childcare and is not always advertised 

with the Reading Family Information Service.  The registered places included in the table below are 

based on part time numbers so reflects Holiday clubs offering half day sessions.  

Demand for After School Club and Holiday Provision is difficult to predict due to the age range it covers 

and the wide variety of care available.  After school activities provided by schools may be available for 

limited hours (e.g. 45 minutes to an hour and therefore be too short for formal registration) and 

subject to short term cancellation. 

Place data based on Ofsted registered provision may over-estimate supply for younger children (aged 

4-7 years old).  Providers may choose to operate with a lower number of children than they are 

registered for.  Understanding operating capacity is a challenge for future sufficiency assessments, 

both to provide an assessment of the (currently) usable supply of places, and to provide an assessment 

of where there may be additional capacity to develop to cater for any unmet need.  

 

 

Estimated population of School aged children living in Reading by Ward 

 5 – 7 Year Olds 8 – 10 Year Olds 11 – 14 Year Olds 

Abbey 570 480 480 

Battle 545 494 593 

Caversham 388 375 438 

Church 375 358 504 

Katesgrove 422 358 438 

Kentwood 419 402 517 

Mapledurham 103 130 189 

Minster 481 423 487 

Norcot 590 483 600 

Park 431 361 488 

Peppard 357 402 512 

Redlands 259 259 423 

Southcote 373 421 462 

Thames 410 481 630 

Tilehurst 395 398 494 

Whitley 611 597 762 

Total 6729 6422 8017 

Page 33



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 18 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 

Holiday Activities and Food programme (HAF) 

The government launched the HAF programme early 2021 to support disadvantaged children  to 

access provision over the three main holiday periods-Easter, Summer and Christmas. This 

programme was available for all children 5-16 who were eligible for FSM or locally identified as 

vulnerable.  The programme supports children and young people to engage with education through 

the holiday periods especially for those families experiencing economic hardship. The programme 

offers each child 4 hours a day, 4 days a week for 6 weeks over a year. 

There were a number of providers who were commissioned to deliver this programme. The provider 

survey shows that not all holiday club providers are offering the HAF programme and further follow 

up is required to ensure they have all the information required.  Overall, the programme has 

expanded the childcare market considerably and is supporting financial sustainability of holiday club 

providers. The programme funding has been agreed for a further three years until 2025. 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of childcare providers by Type & Ward – March 21  
Number of After 
School Clubs or 
Breakfast Clubs 

Registered Places in 
After School Clubs or 

Breakfast Clubs 
Number of 

Holiday Clubs 

Registered 
Places in 

Holiday Clubs 

Abbey 3 102 2 54 

Battle 6 215 3 108 

Caversham 4 110 1 20 

Church 2 45 2 100 

Katesgrove 4 150 3 120 

Kentwood 1 20   

Mapledurham 1 40   

Minster 1 30   

Norcot 3 83 1 15 

Park 4 115 1  

Peppard 7 316 2 104 

Redlands 2 50 3 102 

Southcote 1 30 2 80 

Thames 2 60 1 30 

Tilehurst 2 80   

Whitley 4 115 2 80 

Total 46 1561 23 843 

Page 34



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 19 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Impact of Covid-19 on Childcare Provision

 
The chart above shows the number of children claiming EY funding over time. In March 2020 childcare 

providers were advised to only remain open for children of keyworkers or children who were 

considered to be vulnerable. To support childcare during this initial period the Department for 

Education (DfE) committed to providing funding for predicted attendance based on normal 

circumstances, therefore no actual attendance data has been recorded.  The Government eased 

restrictions in June 2020 and allowed all pre-school age children to return to childcare settings with 

further national lockdowns in November 2020 and January 2021. 

The number of children claiming both the 3- and 4-year-old universal and 30-hour entitlement have 

yet to settle at pre-pandemic levels. However, the number of children accessing 2-year funded spaces 

(73% take-up) has exceeded pre-pandemic levels and this may have a positive impact on 3 and 4 year 

take up next year. Nationally there has been a decrease in child population of 1.7%, therefore we 

would expect to see a fall in the number of children attending childcare, however, the increase in new 

Reading residential dwellings may counteract this prediction. Comparison between spring 2020 and 

spring 2022 funding take-up shows a decrease of 14% for universal funding and 6% for 30 hours 

funding.  

To date, Reading’s early years childcare market has remained resilient to the financial impact of the 

pandemic with no Providers closing as a direct result of the downturn in numbers. However, the result 

of the early years Providers childcare surveys indicates that the majority of providers hold a waiting 

list because of limits to the physical space but also because of difficulties to recruit early years staff. 

Early years providers reported that funding rates and rising energy costs are the greatest concern to 

their future sustainability. Whereas, out of school providers reported that rising food costs and a 

reduction in parental demand as their greatest concern. It is considered that the sector remains fragile 

because of rising costs, changes in demand and a local and national childcare recruitment crisis fuelled 

by low pay and status.  

 

377 386 371

0

329 311 378 420 377

3453

2375

2972

0

2071

2525

2992

1983

2545

1174

760
963

0

717
926

1068

697
902

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Sum 19 Aut 19 Spr 20 Sum 20 Aut 20 Spr 21 Sum 21 Aut 21 Spr 22

Impact on Early Years Attendance By Scheme

2 Year Olds Universal 30 Hours

Page 35



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 20 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Action plan progress 2021-2022 

Progress on the 2021-2022 action plan: 
 
-Early years advisors have ensured a sharp focus on recruitment and retention for managers 
networks, visits, communications and newsletters. Local partnerships have been formed with 
training providers and employee advisors to recruit apprentices into the sector.  The training offer 
for practitioners has been enhanced to strengthen practitioner knowledge and skills at all levels, to 
grow confidence and highlight to possibilities of continued professional development within the 
sector. The Early Years Newsletter has been introduced to highlight the different roles and 
achievements of the sector to boost morale and raise the profile of early years careers.  
Contributions from the current childcare workforce in Reading account for more than 50% of the 
content and the newsletter is shared on social media. The early years provider survey shows that 
35% remain concerned about the impact of recruitment and 22% retention, whilst this remains a 
high priority, this indicates a reduction from a local survey conducted in April 2022.  
 
-Nationally Ofsted report the number of childminders is declining year on year, there are now 
29,600 registered childminders with a reduction of 4,100 in the last year. The number of 
childminders active in Reading has reduced by 2 this year, with 4 resigning and 2 newly registered 
early years childminders, which indicates a level of stability in comparison to the national picture. 
A dedicated section for childminders has been developed on the BFfC website which includes details 
of essential skills and how to register as a childminder. The early years team provide free, monthly 
briefings for potential childminders to generate new interest. In addition, the Introduction to 
Childminding Practice course is provided at the cost of delivery and all new childminders receive at 
least termly support visits from an early years advisor to ensure Ofsted standards are met. Once 
registered Reading childminders benefit from free training, advice, communications and 
networking opportunities to ensure peer support and to raise standards. 
 
-The Early Years Team and Family Information Service work together to identify areas where 
childcare sufficiency may be at risk. Local knowledge is shared with providers planning to extend 
current provision or open within the area. The Family Information Service have current vacancy 
knowledge and support families to find suitable childcare provision.  
 
-The parent/carer survey and provider waiting lists indicate that parental demand remains stable, 
but with some fluctuation in demand across the town.  The parent/carer survey highlights that 
any changes in requirements due to the Covid pandemic have started to lessen. 
 
-The marketing campaign for 2-, 3- and 4-year funding has continued with the addition of two 
Parent Champions to help advise parents in community including local groups and libraries. The 2 
year funding take up has increased significantly this year to 73% in the spring term 2022. 
However, the 3 and 4 year universal and 30 hour entitlement has seen a slight decrease in take up 
over the last year. Future data needs to be monitored to determine whether this is due to 
population decrease rather than shifting parental demand.  
 
-The introduction of additional information and marketing by the early years service has helped to 
increase take-up of EYPP by 5%.  
 

 

 

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childcare-providers-and-inspections-as-at-31-august-2022/main-findings-childcare-providers-and-inspections-as-at-31-august-2022


 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 21 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Action plan 2023 

The strategic approach to sufficiency will focus on 3 main strands: 
 
1. Childminders 
-Increase the profile of a childminding career through targeted communications to Reading 
residents in order to grow and strengthen the workforce.  
-Sustain the offer of extensive support, training and networking opportunities to new and existing 
childminders to ensure high quality and retention.  
 
2. Recruitment  
-Increase the profile of an early years career to those making early career choices in order to grow 
and strengthen the workforce. 
-Sustain the extensive training and peer networking offer to all levels and experience of early 
years practitioner to ensure high quality and retention.  
 
3. Business  
-Increase opportunities for providers to access specialist training and workshops which presents a 
proactive and sound approach to business planning.  
-Sustain and increase promotion of the bespoke business support available to local providers with 
a focus on individual position.  
 
4. Childcare costs 
-Local campaign to increase the take-up of tax-free entitlement for parents to reduce the cost of 
daycare. 
 

 

 

  

Page 37



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 22 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Appendix 1 

Provider Survey 

The opinions of childcare providers in Reading were sought between December 2022 and January 

2023 via a Microsoft from questionnaire. The survey was completed by 102 respondents with good 

representation across the sector as set out below: 

 

 

Responses have been analysed and will be reported in two sections: early years childcare and out of 

school provision.  

 

Early Years Childcare  

The views of all early years providers were requested and 81 responses were received. This is a good 

representation of the sector which includes childminders, pre-schools, daycare, maintained 

nurseries, school nursery classes and independent schools.  

 

Government Funded Schemes  

Early years providers were asked to report on how they offer the 2-year funding and 3-  4-year-old 

universal and extended funding to understand any restrictions or additional charges to parents. Of 

this group ,74% provide a standalone funded offer with no additional cost to the family. Also 84% 

reported that there are no additional limitations in place as to when the funding can be taken. 

Tax Free Childcare is an incentive for parents and 88% of the respondents confirmed that they are 

registered to accept the offer.  

  

 

 

31%

20%11%

5%

14%

19%

Survey Responses 

Childminder Day Care

Pre-School Independent School

Maintained Nursery/Class Out of School Provider

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/tax-free-childcare


 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 23 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Vacancies  

The group of early years providers reported details of immediately available vacant spaces: 

Age Range  Vacancies  

Under 2 18 

2 Years  74 

3 + 4 Years  281 

 

Waiting List  

Of this group, 62% reported that they do not hold a current waiting list for an immediate start, 

whereas 38% of other respondents provided details of the number of children waiting currently as 

collated below:  

Age Range  Waiting List  

Under 2 114 

2 Years  116 

3 + 4 Years  111 

 

Reason(s) for holding a waiting list for an immediate start include:  

Rank  Reason  Percentage  

- None applicable  41% 

1 A limit for physical space 34% 

2 Qualified Staff Vacancies 17% 

3 Meeting the needs of existing children  16% 

4 Childminder ratio restriction  5% 

5 Unqualified Staff Vacancies  5% 

 

The most common reason for a waiting list was due to lack of physical space, followed by qualified 

staff vacancies and meeting the needs of existing children. 

Business  

Respondents were asked if they have a current business plan to which 54% selected yes and 46% no, 

of those that answered, 5 requested further advice. In addition, 57% of providers reported to have 

increased their fees in the past financial year, however 43% have not.  
 

Sustainability  
 

Early years providers were asked to identify any concern(s) that relate to their sustainability as 

presented in the table below:  

Rank  Reason  Percentage  

- None  18% 

1 Funding rates  54% 

2 Rising energy costs 50% 

3 Rising food costs  41% 

4 Recruitment of staff 35% 

5 Parental demand  25% 

6 Business Rates  24% 

7 Retention of staff 22% 

Page 39



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 24 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 

The most common concerns related to funding and increasing costs, followed by early years 

recruitment.   

Additional Comments  

Early years providers were asked to share any other comments in relation to the childcare market in 

Reading with the following themed responses:  

 

• Increase in government funding required to reflect cost of living rise and providers 

to be included in the decision  

• Concern in relation to sustainability of pre-schools and impact on choice for families 

• Impact of early years recruitment on sustainability of the sector   

• Limited available childcare spaces for parents working fulltime  

• Unpredictable rent increases 

• Increase of childminders leaving the sector since the Covid pandemic  

• Reduced demand for pre-school provision from families  

• Families experiencing rising cost which impact on their ability to pay for childcare 

• Increased pressure on practitioners to meet the needs of children attending  

• Good choice of childcare options locally  

 

Out of School Provider  
The survey was completed by 23 respondents with good representation across the group as set out 

below: 

 

 

 

 

 

17%

4%

13%

8%37%

21%

Survey Responses 

Childminder Breakfast Club

After School & Holiday Club After School Club

Breakfast & After School Club Breakfast, After School & Holiday Club

Page 40



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 25 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Age Range  

Out of school providers were asked the age range of children included in their childcare offer with 

the following results: 

Age Range  Percentage of 
providers  

4-5 years  100% 

6-7 years   100% 

8-11 years 96% 

11 years + 30% 

 

 

Government Funded Schemes  

Out of school providers were asked if they have registered for the Holiday food and activities 

programme (HAF).  Of this group 7 are currently holiday club providers and 28% have registered for 

the scheme and 72% have not. 

 

Tax Free Childcare is an incentive for parents and 87% of the respondents confirmed that they are 

registered to accept the offer. 

 

Vacancies and demand  

All out of school providers with an offer of wrap around care and holiday provision were asked for 

details of their immediately available vacant spaces and if they are meeting demand with the 

following results: 

 

Provision Type  1-5 
Vacancies  

6-10 
Vacancies  

11-15 
Vacancies  

15+ 
Vacancies  

Breakfast Club 46% 8% 8% 38% 

After School Club  47% 13% 20% 20% 

Holiday Club  33% 33% 17% 17% 

 

• 93% of breakfast club providers reported that they are meeting current demand  

• 94% of after school club providers reported that they are meeting current demand  

• 86% of holiday club providers reported that they are meeting current demand  

 

Business 

Respondents were asked if they have a current business plan, to which 48% selected yes and 52% 

no, of those that answered 3 providers have requested further advice. In addition, 41% of providers 

reported to have increased their fees in the past financial year, however 59% have not. 

 

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/holiday-activities-and-food-programme/holiday-activities-and-food-programme-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/holiday-activities-and-food-programme/holiday-activities-and-food-programme-2021
https://www.gov.uk/tax-free-childcare


 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 26 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Sustainability   

Providers were asked to identify any concern(s) that relate to their sustainability as presented in the 

table below: 

Rank  Reason  Percentage  

- None  26% 

1 Rising food costs  43% 

2 Parental demand  34% 

3 Funding rates  30% 

3 Recruitment of staff 30% 

4 Rising energy costs 18% 

4 Retention of staff 18% 

5 Business Rates  9% 

 

Additional Comments  

Providers were asked to share any other comments in relation to the childcare market in Reading 

with the following themes: 

• A reduced demand for out of school childcare as parents are working from home  

• Increase of informal care arrangements for school age children 

• Increase in families falling into arrears with childcare fee payments  

 

Appendix 2 

Parent Survey  

The opinions of parents and carers were sought regarding childcare provision in Reading between 

September and November 2022 via a Microsoft from questionnaire. The survey was completed by 264 

respondents. The survey was publicised via childcare settings, Family Information Service contacts and 

Facebook media pages.  

Analysis of the responses suggests there was a good level of representation from the population as a 

whole, covering age range of children and social economic backgrounds. 66% of the respondents 

stated they had children under the age of 5 years old.  

213 (87%) of those surveyed in our parent questionnaire stated they were satisfied with the quality 

of their childcare provision.  

Other responses are as follows;  

Access to childcare 

• 204 (78%) said they had used informal or formal childcare in the last 12 months. The 

majority of children aged 0 to 4 years old were cared for within a Day Nursery or Pre-

School. Children aged 5 to 10 -year-olds were generally cared for within an Out of School 

Care provision, by a Family Member, after school activity. Children over 10 years old 

stayed with friends or used after school activities. 

Page 42



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 27 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

• 107 (44%) of parents said they used between 15 to 30 hours of childcare a week, 34% said 

they used less than 15 hours and 22% said they used more than 30 hours. 

• 210 (93%) parents/carers stated they were able to find the type of childcare they wanted 

in their local area. Parents who couldn’t find the care they needed stated it was due to the 

cost or lack of special educational needs or disability care.   

• There was a 50-50 split between parents who were or weren’t satisfied with their 

childcare costs. 

• Of the respondents to the survey who did not access childcare 38% did not access 

childcare as their children were cared for by themselves or their partner. 21% of 

respondents stated cost was a barrier.  

• 198 (48%) parents/carers said they accessed childcare as it allowed them to work. 143 

(35%) said it aided their child’s development. 

• 98% of parents/carers said they were satisfied with the quality of their childcare 

arrangements with 77% saying they found it easy to find in the local area. 93% of 

respondents said they were able to access all the childcare they needed. 

• 115 (64%) parents/carers stated they think there was enough Out of School care available. 

55% of users were not satisfied with the cost of their Out of School care.  

 

Early Years Funded Childcare 

• 17 parents questioned in our parent survey said they were accessing the Government 

offered targeted two-year-old funding. 68 were accessing the universal funding and 44 

accessed the extended entitlement. 

• A large proportion of those questioned were aware of the Governments funding offers. 

• 96 of the 216 parents answering our survey with children under 5 years olds were accessing 

the Government offered 15 hours of free childcare regardless of income.  

• Of the parents who reported using any of the funding schemes, 50% claimed it during term-

time only and 50% spread it across the year.  

• Of those parents who used it term time 47% purchases additional weeks. 

• 62% parents paid for extra hours in addition to their funded entitlement. 47% of these 

parents purchased over 10 additional hours each week.   

• 60% of parents reported they didn’t purchase additional hours because they were too 

expensive. 

• With a 42% (yes) 50% (no) split there was no clear answer as to whether the free 

entitlement hours encouraged parents to purchase more childcare hours.  

Extended 30 Hours Funding 

• 67% of the 35 parents who claimed 30 hours funding did so at the same provider as their 

universal funding.  

• There was no clear indicator as to whether the extra hours encouraged parents to pay for 

more childcare. 

 

 

Page 43



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 28 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Childcare costs 

• The majority of the open comments received as part of our parent survey were regarding 

the high cost of childcare and the impact this had on family’s finances. 

• 47% of respondents stated that they had a combined household income of over £66,000.  

• 56% of respondents said they paid for additional hours or weeks on top of their free 

childcare. The vast majority of these parents paid for more than 10 additional hours per 

week.  

• The most popular method of paying for childcare is using direct payment such as bank 

transfer (39%). Only 32% of parents stated they paid using Tax Free Childcare (32%).  

 

Impact of limited childcare during the COVID 19 pandemic  

• When asked if the pandemic had impacted the childcare they use 198 (80%) said it had 

not made a difference.  

• 114 (51%) didn’t think the limited access to childcare during the pandemic had affected 

their child.  20% of parents thought it had affected their child's communication skills. 19% 

felt it has affected their child's emotional well -being.   

 

Appendix 3 

Housing data  

Planning Permissions (Hard Commitments) outstanding as at March 2022 

WARD NAME 2021 2022 

Abbey 2836 4038 

Battle 207 101 

Caversham 73 74 

Church 11 4 

Katesgrove 165 137 

Kentwood 35 37 

Mapledurham 1 4 

Minster 83 107 

Norcot 125 120 

Park 79 56 

Peppard 28 249 

Redlands 52 26 

Southcote 13 10 

Thames 17 19 

Tilehurst 8 11 

Whitley 1347 1359 

Total 5080 6352 

Page 44



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 29 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Appendix 4 

Eligibility Criteria for Funded Early Entitlement for two, three and four-year-old 

children 

Two-Year-Old national criteria 

Economic criteria: 

• Income Support 

• Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance 

• Income-related Employment and Support Allowance 

• The guaranteed element of State Pension Credit 

• Child Tax Credits or Working Tax Credits and they have a gross annual income (before tax) 

of no more than £16,190 

• Working Tax Credit run-on, which is paid for 4 weeks after they stop qualifying for 

Working Tax Credit 

• Universal Credit - if you and your partner have a combined income from work of £15,400 

or less per year after tax.  

  

Non-economic criteria: 

• the child has been in Local Authority care for 1 day or more 

• the child has left Local Authority care under a special guardianship order, a child 

arrangement order or an adoption order 

• the child has a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or an education, health and 

care plan (EHC) 

• the child receives Disability Living Allowance 

 

 Families eligible under the NRPF criteria, and meet the respective income thresholds: 

• Zambrano primary carers 

• families who have No Recourse to Public Funds with a right to remain in the UK on 

grounds of private and family life under Article 8 of the European Convention on Human 

Rights 

• families receiving support under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 who are also subject 

to a no recourse to public funds restriction 

•  those who have claimed asylum in the UK and are waiting for a decision (known as ‘part 

6’) 

• a subset of failed asylum seekers supported under Section 4 of the Immigration and 

Asylum Act 1999 

• Chen carers 

• families holding a BN(O) passport 

• spousal visa holders 

• work visa holders 

• student visa holders 

• those with no immigration status 

• those with a UK Ancestry Visa 

Page 45



 

         Brighter Futures for Children | Reading Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2022-2023 | V1.1| CD 140223 30 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

• those with temporary protection status under Section 12 of the Immigration and 

Nationality Act 

• those with pre-settled status who do not meet the qualifying right to reside test 

 

 

In Reading all eligible two-year-olds can access a funded early education place from the term after 

their second birthday. Each eligible child is entitled to up to 570 hours per year of funded early 

education from the term after their second birthday for a maximum of three terms. 

30 hours extended entitlement 

The following national criteria determine which children are eligible: 

Both parents are working (or sole parent in a lone parent family) and over the next 3 months each 

parent/carer expects to earn: 

• At least a weekly minimum salary equivalent to 16 hours at national minimum wage (for 

under 25-year-olds) or national living wage (if over 25 years old), and 

• No more than £100,000 per year 

 

Or 

Both parents are employed but one or both parents is temporarily away from the workplace 

on parental, maternity, paternity or adoption leave or statutory sick pay. 

Or 

One parent is employed, and one parent is in receipt of either Incapacity Benefit, Severe 

Disablement Allowance, Carer’s Allowance or contribution-based Employment and Support 

Allowance disabled or incapacitated based on receipt of specific benefits. 

 

Immigration status 

A parent will not be eligible if they are from outside the EEA and their UK residence card states they 

cannot access public funds. 

However, their partner can apply instead if they’re from: 

• the UK or EEA 

• outside the EEA and their UK residence card says they can access public funds 

Page 46


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
	Childcare Sufficiency Assessment ACE  22-23


